1956

H. William Nalder et al v. Kellogg Sales Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case was before this court on appeal from the District Court of Davis County, Utah, as Case No. 8313. The opinion in the former appeal reversed the trial court

and ordered a new trial and was handed down on October 11, 1955, and is reported in 4 *Utah 2d* 117, 288 *Pac. 2d* 456. The facts in this appeal are substantially the same as in the former appeal. This proceeding is an appeal from the same court in which a judgment was rendered, this time upon the verdict of a jury, in favor of the respondents and against this appellant.

The respondents will be referred to hereafter as plaintiffs and appellant as defendant.

By its former opinion, this court ruled, that since the defendant, Nalder, Jr., signed none of the real estate mortgages which are, in part, the subject of this litigation, no judgment for damages for failure on the part of the defendant to release such mortgages could be awarded in his favor. Notwithstanding that mandate the trial court made no attempt to differentiate between damages flowing from the failure to release real estate mortgages and defendant's failure to release chattel mortgages and the jury was permitted to find the issue of damages in Nalder, Jr.'s favor without regard to the law of the case established by this court on that phase of the controversy.

This court further ruled on the former appeal that Nalder, Jr. could have no award of damages based upon the failure of defendant to release any mortgages for any period after he ceased doing business as a turkey grower. On the mistaken theory that the evidence upon retrial showed that Nalder, Jr. was attempting to engage in the turkey business during all of the time complained of by the plaintiffs, the trial court permitted the jury to award damages to him covering a period after which he had ceased to engage in that business or attempted to do so.

We shall have more to say regarding this aspect of the case hereafter.

Plaintiffs by this action seek recovery of alleged damages to their business as turkey raisers occurring in 1952, 1953 and 1954. They assert damage was caused by the failure of the defendant to release three chattel mortgages signed by Nalder, Sr. and Nalder, Jr. and two real estate mortgages executed by Nalder, Sr. and his wife and delivered to the defendant in connection with turkey financing agreements in 1949, 1950 and 1951. (Ex. A 1-3 and A 7-8) A third real estate mortgage was also given to defendant. (Ex. A 10) It was admitted by plaintiffs without dispute that that mortgage was a valid subsisting obligation which defendant was entitled to maintain of record. It amounted to \$6,555.12 plus \$3,600.00 for ~~furniture~~^{future} advances.

The case was tried upon plaintiffs' contention that because defendant did not release these mortgages, Nalder, Sr. and Nalder, Jr. were prevented from securing turkey financing from other companies, thus preventing them from raising the number of turkeys in 1952, 1953 and 1954, which they intended to and were capable of raising. They declare that it was their intention to raise 14,000 turkeys in each of those years and that they would have realized a profit of \$64,850.40 which they lost as the result of defendant's alleged wrongdoing. (R. 1-2) (Tr. 81-84, 296, 303, 305)

The record shows that plaintiffs never raised more than 6,000 turkeys in any year, even with the identical facilities which they now contend would have been used by them to raise 14,000 turkeys. The record further shows that during the three years preceding 1952, plaintiffs en-

gaged in the turkey business at an overall loss. In none of those years did the turkey business yield plaintiffs any substantial profit.

Defendant denied the alleged wrong and that plaintiffs had suffered any damage by reason of anything done or omitted by defendant, and counterclaimed to foreclose its third real estate mortgage. (Ex. A 10) (R. 3-10) Since no attempt was made by plaintiffs to contest the amount owing defendant on its counterclaim, defendant was awarded judgment for the full amount demanded, including attorneys' fees. The amount thus granted to defendant was deducted from the jury's verdict of \$22,-030.61 and judgment was finally entered in favor of Nalder, Sr. and Nalder, Jr. for the net amount of \$14,-739.09 plus \$150.00 penalty. (R. 16) It is from that judgment and other rulings of the trial court that this appeal is prosecuted.

At the conclusion of the evidence defendant made a motion for a directed verdict. The court took the motion under advisement (Tr. 514-517) and after verdict and judgment on the verdict, denied the motion. (R. 18)

Within the proper time after judgment defendant filed its motion for judgment notwithstanding verdict, or for a new trial. (R. 17) Those motions were likewise denied. (R. 18)

In addition, on March 27, 1956, the court granted plaintiffs' motion to retax costs which defendant claimed by a cost bill filed December 10, 1955, following reversal in the former appeal. (R. 23) The court struck from defendant's cost bill on appeal the items of \$682.84 which was the cost of the supersedeas bond required on the

former appeal and \$19.80 charged for the filing of the record on appeal.

It is undisputed that prior to 1949 Nalder, Sr. made preparations to go into the turkey business. Neither he nor his son, H. William Nalder, Jr., had engaged in that business before that time. (Tr. 21) In that year Nalder, Sr. and Nalder, Jr. entered into a partnership and commenced business. (Tr. 22, 23) They were financially unable to carry on business without credit. For each of the years 1949, 1950 and 1951 they entered into contracts with defendant, whereby, in exchange for their agreement to use defendant's turkey feed preparations, defendant agreed to advance the price of turkey poults and the necessary feed to grow and mature them for market. Exhibits B 2 and B 3 constituted the contract for 1949 and the contracts for 1950 and 1951 contained the same provisions except for the necessary variations of amount and year.

To secure the defendant for its advances Nalder, Sr. and Nalder, Jr., each year for the three years in which defendant provided the financing, signed and delivered to defendant promissory notes evidencing advances made by defendant and secured those notes by chattel mortgages upon the turkeys and the machinery, feed and equipment used in the business. Those chattel mortgages are part of the record as Exhibits A 1, A 2 and A 3.

It is not disputed that defendant provided all of the plaintiffs' required financing for 1949, 1950 and 1951.

In addition to chattel mortgage financing the defendant provided supplemental financing for which real estate mortgages were taken as security upon the real estate of Catherine Nalder. (Ex. A 7-13) This was neces-

sary because the chattel mortgage financing was insufficient to mature the turkeys and was furnished by defendant upon plaintiffs' request.

For the sole purpose of creating the impression with the jury that defendant was oppressive in its dealings with plaintiffs and did not act in good faith, plaintiffs contended that the defendant exacted notes and mortgages exceeding the actual amounts advanced to them. The contention is that defendant demanded notes and mortgages in double the amount actually requested or needed. (Tr. 56,150) As a matter of fact, prior to September 14, 1949, plaintiffs requested an additional \$2,000.00 and offered real estate in the name of Mrs. Nalder as security. Because it was anticipated that additional funds might be needed, a mortgage was taken for \$4,000.00. (Ex. A 7) (Tr. 363,365,367) Under that mortgage not \$2,000.00 but \$5,500.00 was actually advanced. (Tr. 369) (Ex. E)

In April, 1950, another real estate mortgage was taken on the same property. (Ex. A 8) Prior to that date defendant had made advances to plaintiffs in the amount of \$6,721.80 which was in addition to chattel mortgage financing and that real estate mortgage was to secure those additional advances. (Tr. 141,370) (Ex. E) Nevertheless, H. William Nalder denied having received any advances under that mortgage. (Tr. 57)

Again on August 15, 1950, a real estate mortgage was taken to secure anticipated further advances of \$3,600.00 (Ex. A 10) Under that mortgage over \$3,600.00 was advanced by defendants. (Tr. 371) (Ex. E) It was the sworn testimony of the plaintiffs that the third real estate mortgage was given for the sole purpose of merging the balance due from the 1949 indebtedness which

amounted to \$6,555.12 and upon a promise that all prior mortgages would be released. (Tr. 60-62, 214-215, 216) Timely objections were made to that evidence and were overruled by the court notwithstanding there was no foundation showing that the defendant's agent who was purported to have made the promise had any authority to make it and in the face of testimony and evidence that he had no such authority. (Tr. 60, 214, 44-54, 339) (Ex. C 4, 5, 6, 7.5, 8)

In none of the years that the plaintiffs raised turkeys with the aid of defendant's financing were they able to make a substantial profit. The operation in 1949 resulted in a loss of over \$6,000.00 (Ex. C 4, 5. Ex. D 4, 8. Ex. E) (Tr. 65, 69) In 1950 they succeeded in repaying all advances made for that year and about \$1,000.00 over, which was applied on the 1949 deficit. (Ex. D 4, 8. Ex. E) (Tr. 69) In 1951 they were even less successful. They made only about \$400.00 more than the total cost of that year's operation. (Ex. E) In 1951 in a letter written to defendant the plaintiffs confessed themselves as failures in the turkey business. (Ex. D 4)

In no year did the plaintiffs ever raise more than 6,000 turkeys. Yet in this case they would have the court believe it was their intention and that they actually would have raised 14,000 turkeys had defendant not prevented them from getting the necessary financing. The only year in which they made any attempt to get financing for 14,000 turkeys was 1952. (Ex. G 2 and H 1)

At the end of 1951 defendant declined to finance plaintiffs any longer. Plaintiffs had failed to substantially reduce the amount of their indebtedness from the 1949 operation. In addition, irregularities were discovered in

their dealings with defendant. They had sold turkeys covered by defendant's 1951 chattel mortgage and had not accounted for the proceeds. (Ex. D 4-8, D 11-13) (Tr. 66) As a matter of fact they have never fully accounted to defendant to this day for all of the turkeys which they illegally sold. (Tr. 379, 149) They knew perfectly well that they had no right to sell those mortgaged turkeys or to divert the proceeds to other uses than the payment of their obligations to defendant. (Ex. D 4, 5) (Tr. 68, 148, 218, 219) They made a full written confession of their wrongdoing in November, 1951. (Ex. D 4-8) The money they received from those sales was used to pay claims of other creditors who were pressing them for payment or threatening to take judgments. (Ex. D 4, 5) (Tr. 68, 70, 148) At the trial the plaintiffs tried to make it appear that those turkeys had been sold because by so doing they were able to get more money for them. (Tr. 66, 146) On cross examination they were forced to admit the real motives behind their actions.

It was for those reasons plus the fact that defendant could no longer provide the type of financing which plaintiffs required that defendant declined to finance plaintiffs any longer. (Tr. 423, 458)

Late in the fall of 1951 a conference was held between Mr. and Mrs. Nalder, Sr. and Messrs. Williams and Aust representing the defendant. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the liquidation of the amount owing defendant. The meeting took place in the Hotel Utah. The Nalders claim that when the subject of 1952 financing came up for discussion Mr. Williams not only refused to extend further credit, but went further and threatened that he would prevent the Nalders from getting credit

from anyone else. (Tr. 73, 74, 80, 151, 222, 230) Mr. Williams and Mr. Aust both emphatically deny such a threat. (Tr. 423, 424, 458) If made and carried out it would have almost certainly forever foreclosed the only hope which defendant had of ever getting its money and defendant well knew this to be so. (Tr. 461) The obvious purpose of the accusations made by the plaintiffs was again to make it appear to the jury that defendant was guilty of bad faith. The evidence clearly demonstrates that no such threat to plaintiffs' credit was ever made.

The record shows that the plaintiffs themselves are not in unity about the matter of a threat having been made. H. William Nalder, Jr. wrote a letter to defendant couched in extreme opposite terms than his parents testified. (Ex. D 14) In that letter he states that his father told him that defendant would permit other financing arrangements to be made by plaintiffs and asks the defendant to confirm the understanding. Furthermore, he testified to the same effect. (Tr. 324, 325) Yet H. William Nalder, Sr. denied under oath that he ever told his son the very thing which H. William Nalder, Jr. wrote to defendant about. (Tr. 151) Responsive to that letter defendant confirmed its willingness to permit other financing and expressed its willingness to subordinate its claim to anyone willing to provide financing. That offer was repeatedly renewed and was never withdrawn. (Tr. 152) (Ex. D 16-23) (Tr. 299, 324) Defendant attached as a condition to its agreement to subordinate that plaintiffs pay \$352.00 which represented the value of mortgaged turkeys which had been wrongfully delivered to a service station operator to satisfy an unpaid account for gas and oil which Nalder, Jr. owed and had failed to pay. (Ex. D 17, 19) (Tr. 154,

155, 301, 302, 323, 325) The plaintiffs not only recognized the condition to be reasonable but attempted to comply with it. Furthermore, there was an exchange of perfectly friendly correspondence after this alleged threat was made. (Ex. D 10.5, 21.5)

During the trial the matter of the efforts of plaintiffs to secure other financing was testified to at great length. It appears that Nalder, Sr. and Nalder, Jr. made separate and individual applications to different feed manufacturers. It was asserted that this was done in the full knowledge that if made jointly the applications would have been refused. (Tr. 296)

In 1952 Nalder, Jr. made an application to Farmer's Grain (Ex. H) and one to the Pillsbury Company. There is in the record absolutely no evidence as to why those applications were rejected. (Tr. 305, 322, 323) Consequently, there is no proof that they were rejected because defendant did not release its mortgages.

Also in 1952 another application was made by Nalder, Jr. to General Mills (Ex. F) and there is considerable evidence as to why it was not approved. It requested financing for 5,000 turkeys, not 14,000. (Ex. F 1) Many unfavorable factors are revealed by the record and are graphically portrayed in Exhibit F 6. It is conceded that one of the conditions for approval was a release or subordination of defendant's mortgages. But in addition the matter of H. William Nalder, Jr.'s credit reputation was seriously questioned. (Tr. 111, 122) Also his involvement in litigation and a poor paying record and other mortgages and debts. (Tr. 117, 122-124) Furthermore, he was to be strictly limited in his operations to 5,000 birds, not 9,000 which he contends he was going to raise. (Tr. 115, 121) In ad-

dition, a guarantee which was an absolute requirement for approval was never obtained by him. (Tr. 115, 116, 126, 127, 133) Mr. Stevens, credit manager of General Mills, was called by plaintiffs and despite counsel's repeated efforts to get him to do so he refused to state that Nalder's application would have been approved if defendant had released or subordinated its debt. (Tr. 128) The record does not support the contention that the application would have been approved if defendant had released its mortgages. It is significant to note that the turkey processor with whom the plaintiffs had done business for two or three years would not advance even \$352.00 to Nalder, Jr. in order for him to get a subordination from defendant. (Tr. 302, 324) Here was a man who knew the plaintiff as well as anyone who had no confidence that he would get his money back even if he loaned them only this small amount.

The record is likewise clear that Nalder, Jr. abandoned any further efforts to finance turkeys after 1952. (Tr. 309) In spite of such abandonment the jury was permitted to find that Nalder, Jr. was damaged in turkey operations in the years 1953 and 1954 because defendant did not release its mortgages.

We turn now to the credit applications made by Nalder, Sr. to Ralston Purina Company in 1952, 1953 and 1954. The application of 1953 was not produced but he testified it was for 1,300 to 2,000 turkeys. (Tr. 156, 204) The exact number is indefinite.

He had attempted to get financing for 5,000 turkeys in 1952 (Ex. G 2) but when this was not approved he reduced his request hoping it would be approved and in 1954 his application was for only 2,000 turkeys (Ex.

G 3), not 5,000 or 14,000. The evidence is that in 1953 and 1954 he tried to get financing for no more than 2,000 turkeys. Here again we point out that despite this evidence the plaintiffs were permitted to go to the jury upon the theory that they intended to raise 14,000 turkeys in 1952, 1953 and 1954 and that they would have been successful except for defendant's alleged wrongdoing.

The record indicates clearly that the applications of Nalder, Sr. to Ralston Purina were rejected for much the same reasons that Nalder, Jr's. application was denied by General Mills. They were: (1) Bad credit rating and pending litigation. (Ex. L 11, 13, 14) (Tr. 96, 478-82, 499, 508, 509) (2) Lack of character and reputation. (Ex. L 15) (3) The existence of other mortgage indebtedness. (Tr. 492, 493) (4) All other factors affecting credit. (Tr. 499, 510, 511)

It was not the existence of unreleased Kellog mortgages which was responsible for the denial of credit applications. (Tr. 497, 500) That a release or subordination of defendant's mortgages would have been necessary in the event the application was accepted is not disputed. (Tr. 483, 492) The evidence is that these applications were denied solely because Nalder, Sr. was considered to be an undesirable individual to do business with. He did get financing for 1,000 to 2,000 turkeys in 1952, 1953 and 1954, but only upon a guarantee of his obligation by Rasmussen, his feed dealer. First Security Bank would not accept him upon the strength of his own credit reputation or assets. (Tr. 271, 272)

It is undisputed that credit men do not deny credit applications because an applicant may have unreleased mortgages outstanding in any amount. Of much greater

importance is the amount of the debt which underlies such recorded instruments. Unreleased mortgages are only an indication of the existence of a possible debt which an applicant may owe. (Tr. 119, 122, 125, 322, 388, 459, 460)

We cannot pass this phase of the case without alluding to the record of false and incomplete credit information supplied by Nalder, Sr. to Ralston Purina. He signed the financial statements, which are Exhibits G 1 and G 5, certifying that they were complete, accurate and truthful. The only indebtedness which he disclosed was to Deseret Federal Savings & Loan Association. He made no mention whatever of the debt owing defendant nor did he mention the existence of numerous chattel and real estate mortgages and judgments outstanding to other creditors. He knew the information contained in his application was untrue. (Tr. 157-163, 165-168, 169, 170) He excused his conduct in this regard by stating that he notified Wheelwright, a Ralston Purina Agent, of the existence of those debts and omitted them upon Wheelwright's suggestion and advice. Significantly he failed to call Wheelwright to testify in corroboration of this statement.

The existence of those mortgages and judgments, many of which had not been released or satisfied when the applications for credit were made, is amply supported by the record. (Tr. 572-575, 491, 275-283) They total some eighteen separate items. Many of them were unreleased at the time of trial.

One of the important issues in this case is whether a demand was ever made by plaintiffs that defendant release its mortgages, assuming that they had been paid and satisfied and plaintiffs were entitled to releases, which de-

fendant specifically denied. The record is bare of any evidence that any demand was ever made for a release of the real estate mortgages. Furthermore, with respect to the real estate mortgages the record shows conclusively that plaintiffs were not entitled to releases. The mortgages dated April 1, 1950, and August 15, 1950, (Ex. A 8, A 10) both expressly provided that they were to secure all indebtedness then existing or accruing thereafter by all the plaintiffs to the defendant until the same was paid in full. The debt owing to defendant never having been paid in full those mortgages were never in fact satisfied and hence defendant was under no obligation to release them. Those mortgages totaled \$13,276.92. The validity of the mortgage of August 15, 1950, (Ex. A 10) is conceded. The jury was permitted to take into account the fact that the mortgage of April 1, 1950, (Ex. A 8) was not released as a basis for damages.

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