1956

H. William Nalder et al v. Kellogg Sales Co. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

"I would like to tell him that we will have to have the \$352.00 for 1951 turkeys which he traded for the gas bill before we could agree to write such a letter. What do you think? *I doubt if he can pay this but it might work.*" (Ex. D 15, App. 15). (Emphasis added.)

3. Thereafter, the Defendant continually insisted upon the \$352.00 payment even though their own letters and ledger sheet acknowledged that they had been paid in full for 1951. (Ex. D-16, D-20, D-21, D-21.5, D-22, D-23, App. 16, 18, 21, 22, 23, 24 and 25).

4. When the Defendant was not advised by the Plaintiffs as to what companies were considering financing them, they wrote the following officious letters to Farmers Grain Com-

pany and apparently sent a copy to General Mills (Tr. 129). The letter is dated February 26, 1952:

"Gentlemen: We recently had a request from Mr. H. William Nalder, Jr., to subordinate a lien which we have on his 1951 flock of turkeys.

"We have written to Mr. Nalder and notified him that upon receipt of his remittance of \$352.00 we would agree to furnish the subordination agreement to cover the remaining balance for prior years, but we must have the 1951 account cleaned up first. *We also asked Mr. Nalder the name of the feed company that intended to finance him for this season but as yet we have not received a reply to our letter.* (Emphasis added.)

"We understand that you folks are contemplating financing his 1952 turkey program and we wish to notify you at this time that we still have a lien on his turkeys. If there should be any further questions on this we would appreciate having you contact us." (Ex. F 10, App. 17).

From the foregoing letter, it is obvious that they did not know the name of the feed company intending to finance the Plaintiffs. Also, it is obvious that the statement to the effect that Defendant still had a lien on the 1951 flock of turkeys for failure to make payment of \$352.00 on the 1951 account, would be in direct conflict with the application of the Plaintiffs, since they represented that the 1951 season had been successful and the amount paid in full. The effect of such a letter sent to a business contemplating granting credit would only result in the disapproval of the application. Certainly the Defendant went out of its way in writing the letter knowing that the result would be to prevent financing by other companies.

5. The Defendant openly admitted that they insisted upon double liability when additional financing was granted. The

first real estate mortgage was for \$4,000.00 even though only \$2,000.00 was advanced. In addition to testifying as to such a policy, Mr. Williams wrote to Mr. Quinney, August 2, 1950, and stated as follows:

"It has been our custom where additional finance was required to require security at the rate of two for one. In other words, \$2.00 worth of security for each \$1.00 furnished on additional finance. * * *

"We may be entirely off the beam in drawing a mortgage for an amount larger than we expect the account to become, but we feel that it is some protection to have a recorded amount in that figure, and if by some extreme it was necessary to advance more than was originally requested, there would not have been an opportunity for the grower to have placed another mortgage, which would come in between the mortgage we might file now and another one some 60 to 90 days later. You might advise us as to this procedure. We understand that in most states the mortgage has to be backed up by notes but of course we would never attempt to collect any more than the account actually amounted to regardless of the size of the mortgage." (Ex. C-7.5, App. 5). (Emphasis added.)

6. Bill Nalder testified that at the time the 1950 payment was made he was advised the mortgages would be released after the return of Mr. Williams (Tr. 318). Mrs. Schinker of Kellogg Company wrote to Mr. Nalder confirming that the mortgages would probably be released after consultation with Mr. Williams (Ex. C-10, App. 8). However, in an interoffice letter it was clearly stated that the mortgages would not be released until ordered by Mr. Williams (Ex. C-9, App. 7). Mr. Williams ordered that the mortgages not be released since it was the policy of the Company never to release a mortgage as long as there was an unpaid balance. This policy was never

communicated to the Plaintiffs; rather, they were lead to believe that release of the mortgages would be taken care of in due course.

7. There is no question but that the Defendant knew that as long as the mortgages were unreleased the Plaintiff would not be able to secure financing. Mention of this fact was made in their letter of December 22, 1952 (Ex. D-21.5, App. 23). Mr. Aust, the credit manager, testified that he knew it was a policy of the large feed companies not to finance a grower as long as there was a prior unreleased mortgage of another feed company (Tr. 382-4). Mr. Williams testified that his company, as well as other companies, would not grant financing without securing releases of prior turkey mortgages because they purported to give a lien on future acquired turkeys (Tr. 358, 465).

8. The correspondence between Ralston-Purina Company and the Defendant during the first months of 1954 pertaining to a request that the 1951 mortgage be released has been referred herein. The dilatory and irresponsible lack of concern on the part of the Defendant certainly did not show good faith. (See Ex. G-6, 7, 8 & 9, App. 27 to 30).

9. Upon receiving a letter from Ralston Purina Company, Exhibit G-6, App. 27, the credit manager for the Defendant called a representative of Ralston Purina at St. Louis. The letter merely asked if the Defendant was willing to release the mortgage. Nevertheless the agent of the Defendant proceeded to tell the credit manager for Ralston Purina his personal opinion of the Plaintiffs. A report of the call was as follows:

“The credit man who called us (whose name I didn’t catch) was personally acquainted with the Nalders. He

certainly did not have a very high opinion of the Nalders and referred to Mrs. Nalder as the 'troublemaker.' '' (Ex. G-10, App. 31).

Not only did the Defendant refuse to release the mortgages, they threatened to prevent the plaintiffs from obtaining financing elsewhere, flippantly insisted that \$352.00 be paid before a subordination agreement would be granted since "it might work," wrote officious letters misrepresenting the facts to other feed companies, lightly demanded double security for additional financing, lead the Plaintiffs to believe the mortgages would be released while the company policy was completely opposite; exercised dilatory practices in releasing the mortgages even after suit was threatened and, finally, went out of their way to advise the credit man of another company that the Plaintiffs could not keep their promises; had failed to account for turkeys; that they were troublemakers; and that Defendant would not finance them. Rather than showing good faith, the conduct of the Defendant was willful, wrongful, and even malicious to an extent sufficient to sustain punitive damages regardless of the statute specifying double damages for failure to release the mortgages.

The issue of whether the defendant acted in good faith is a question of fact for jury determination. The Court, by Instruction No. 17, instructed the jury "that there can be no recovery of damages * * * * if the mortgagee mistakenly, but honestly, and in good faith" failed to release said mortgages." The jury found this factual issue against the defendant. The foregoing evidence is more than adequate to justify the submission of that issue to the jury and to sustain the verdict on that issue.

In *Malarkey vs. O'Leary*, 256 Pac. 521 (Oregon), the court said that where the mortgagee refused to release the mortgage after it had been paid because the mortgagor owed another debt to him, that this was no defense to the action even though the mortgagee acted in good faith. The court stated:

"He (the defendant) also claims that the answer is sufficient, because it shows that the defendant was acting in good faith, and under honest belief that he was not required to satisfy the mortgage until payment of the sum mentioned in the answer. *But his good faith is no defense.* Although the statute is penal in its character, the good faith of the mortgagee in refusing to cancel a mortgage of record will constitute no defense to an action brought to recover the penalty provided for in the statute, after the terms and conditions of the mortgage have been admittedly complied with." (Emphasis added.)

The Defendant in this case refused to release the mortgages in an attempt to coerce the Plaintiff into paying an additional payment. According to the Oregon case such conduct cannot constitute a good faith defense.

In *Swaner v. Union Mortgage Company*, *supra*, the court discussed the question of good faith when the refusal to release the mortgage is made to coerce an additional payment. The court states as follows:

"The evidence in the record indicates that appellant refused to advance money under the contract in an attempt to force payment on another contract. And appellant offered to release the mortgage only if reimbursed for its expenditures, although by its own act it had breached the contract and made it impossible for respondent to proceed. Appellant failed to establish that it acted in 'good faith' in refusing to release the mortgage.

“A party who contracts to lend money to another to build a house, taking a mortgage thereon as security, observes the other party spend money and time and perform as agreed, it refuses for reasons of coercion connected with another matter to advance money as agreed, can hardly insist that he acted in entire good faith and should therefore be protected from payment of certain damages.”

The Defendant asserts that the penal provisions of the statute should not be applied because the Defendant was acting in good faith. To support this contention, the Defendant cites the case of *Shibata v. Bear River Bank*, *supra*. It is true the Utah court adopted the good faith rule in that case, but it was based upon the fact that the mortgagee was acting in good faith “because he believes there has been no full satisfaction,” or because he “honestly thinks that it had a valid and subsisting mortgage against appellant which had not been satisfied.” In this case the Defendant cannot claim that it thought it had valid and subsisting mortgages, since its own documents showed payment in full and since the Defendant refused to release the mortgages because it was the policy of the company to never release any mortgages so long as there was an unpaid balance. There could be no good faith assertion that the Defendant thought the 1950 and 1951 chattel mortgages were valid and subsisting. Kellogg’s own ledger sheets and correspondence show that those obligations had been paid in full. The distinction that the good faith must be a belief that there had been no full satisfaction is supported by the numerous cases cited in the annotation in 56 ALR 345. The good faith necessary is a good faith belief in the proposition that the debt secured by the mortgage has not been paid. It would be easy to circumvent legislative intent by merely claiming good faith

because counsel advised Defendants to follow a given course of conduct. The statute clearly specified what should be done when a mortgage is satisfied. Defendant cannot escape liability by claiming that they were advised to ignore the provisions of the statute. Such is not the good faith intent necessary to escape the provisions of the statute.

(E) AGENTS OF THE DEFENDANT HAD EITHER ACTUAL OR APPARENT AUTHORITY TO REPRESENT THE DEFENDANTS. (DEFENDANT'S POINT VIII).

Previous reference has been made to the conversations had with Mr. Scoville, Mrs. Schinker and the credit manager, Mr. Aust. Mr. Scoville was directed to take the notes and mortgages and have them executed by the Nalders after the deficit in 1949 was established. Letters Exhibits C-4, C-5, C-8, Appendix 3, 4 & 6 are directives from the Defendant to Mr. Scoville concerning this matter. In a letter of August 2, 1950, Mr. Williams, the plant manager, advised Mr. Quinney to contact Mr. Scoville for the purpose of having the mortgage signed (Ex. C-7.5, App. 5).

Mrs. Schinker had authority to receive the money, so it would appear that she had some authority to discuss the releasing of the mortgages upon payment in full. Mr. Williams admitted that she was familiar with the policy of the company regarding releasing mortgages and had authority to discuss such policy (Tr. 340-3). Mr. Aust in his letters stated that upon payment of \$352.00 the mortgages would be released (Ex. D-13, App. 13 and Ex. D-21.5, App. 23). Again Mr. Williams admitted Mr. Aust as credit manager had a responsible position with the company, and was familiar with the policy of the company (Tr. 336-7). Although the employees

freely discussed the matter of releasing the mortgages, it now appears from the testimony of Mr. Williams that he was the only one with authority to release mortgages. If the agents did not have actual authority, certainly they had apparent authority so far as the plaintiffs were concerned. Representatives of the Defendant who requested execution of the mortgagees received the money paying the contract in full; discussed and insisted upon payment of additional amounts before mortgages would be released, must have had some authority.

According to 59 C.J.S. 756, a demand may be served on an agent or clerk of the mortgagee, in which case it will be sufficient if such person had authority to receive it, *or if knowledge of it is brought home to the mortgagee.* (Emphasis added.)

In *Scoville v. Kellogg*, 1 Utah 2d 19, 261 P. 2d 933, the Defendant attempted to disclaim liability on a bonus arrangement with its salesmen on the ground that its representative did not have authority to bind the Defendant. The court held it was error to strike the representative's testimony since he had executed a written bonus plan and had sent correspondence concerning bonus payments.

In the present case the Plaintiffs were dealing with representatives who were signing application, receipts for payment, and making written demand for payments in which they stated that, upon receiving said payments, mortgages would be released.

In each case, before any conversation involving Scoville or Mrs. Schinker was permitted, Mr. Williams was called out of order and testified concerning their positions with the Defendant company. (*Scoville*, Tr. 44-54; *Schinker*, Tr. 313-

317). The court gave careful consideration to Defendant's claim of lack of authority before such evidence was admitted.

These representatives had sufficient authority to receive and transmit a demand for the release of the mortgages to an agent of the Defendant who did have authority. Mr. Williams was advised of Mr. Nalder, Jr.'s letter requesting authority for financing by another company. Mr. Williams was advised by Mrs. Schinker that the 1950 account had been paid in full and that mortgages would not be released until so advised by him. When asked what advice was given to Mrs. Schinker, Mr. Williams said, "Yes, I told her we will not release the mortgage" (Tr. 342). It was admitted that Mr. Williams had authority to release the mortgages. Even after an agent of the Defendant with authority received the information, it appears that there was no intention of releasing the mortgages since it was stated emphatically that it was the policy of the company not to release any mortgages so long as there was an unpaid balance. Even if the agents did not have authority to actually release the mortgages, they had authority to discuss the matter with the plaintiffs and to communicate those matters to persons with authority. As far as the plaintiffs were concerned, they were dealing with people acting within the scope of their employment concerning matters which the agents were directed to discuss with the plaintiffs and, therefore, they were justified in assuming that the agents had actual authority even though it amounted to only apparent authority which is equally binding upon the principal.

CONCLUSION, POINT ONE

All of the matters argued under this point were presented to the Supreme Court by the Defendant upon the prior appeal.

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